RECEIVED

Sep 28 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM OCONEE COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable Steven C Kirven
Case Nos. 2019CP3700687 and 2020CP3700188

Appellate Case No. 2022-001189

Montgomery Holdings, LLC d/b/a IBI Builders,..... Respondent,

v.

Christopher J. Merlo and Grandsouth Bank, Defendants

AND

Christopher J. Merlo,..... Appellant,

v.

Gregory K. Grissinger, Jr. and John Montgomery,Respondents.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT
CHRISTOPHER J. MERLO**

Townes B. Johnson III (SC Bar# 75412)
TOWNES B. JOHNSON III, LLC
PO BOX 9246
GREENVILLE, SC 29604
PH: (864) 757-4899

Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED MERLO'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT
- II. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY RULED ON QUESTIONS OF LAW
- III. THE COURT MADE FINDING OF FACT UNSUPPORTED IN THE RECORD

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about November 8, 2019, Plaintiff/Respondent Montgomery Holdings, LLC d/b/a IBI Builders (“IBI” or “Plaintiff”) brought the main action, C. A. No. 2019CP3700687, against Defendant/Appellant Christopher J. Merlo (“Merlo” or “Defendant”) as well as other defendants, Bank of Travelers Rest and Grandsouth Bank, for foreclosure of its Mechanic’s Lien, breach of contract, unjust enrichment and quantum meruit. (R. pp. 0047-0069).

On November 21, 2019 Merlo filed his Answer, Counterclaim and Third-party Complaint against IBI for breach of contract, negligence, negligent misrepresentation, fraud, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act and breach of fiduciary duty and against Third-party Defendants/Respondents Gregory K. Grissinger, Jr. (“Grissinger”) and John Montgomery (“Montgomery” and collectively with Grissinger “Third-party Defendants”) for negligence, negligent misrepresentation, fraud, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act and breach of fiduciary duty. (R. pp. 0070-0086). On December 20, 2019, Third-party Defendants moved to strike/dismiss Merlo’s Third-party Complaint and on February 18, 2020, the Honorable R. Lawton McIntosh ordered that the Third-party Complaint be commenced in a separate action.

Accordingly, on March 6, 2020, Merlo commenced the separate action, C. A. No. 2020CP3700188, against Third-party Defendants for negligence, negligent misrepresentation, fraud, violation of the South Carolina Unfair Trade Practices Act and breach of fiduciary duty. (R. pp. 0099-0106). Third-party Defendants filed their answer to Merlo’s complaint on March 23, 2020.

On August 30, 2021, the cases were re-consolidated for trial by the order of the Honorable R. Scott Sprouse and referred to the Master-in-Equity for Oconee County, the Honorable Steven C. Kirven to take the testimony arising under the pleadings and to make his findings of fact and

conclusions of law. (R. pp. 0006-0008). The trial in the consolidated cases commenced before the Honorable Steven C. Kirven on May 24, 2022 and concluded on May 27, 2022.

On July 20, 2022, judgment in the amount of \$402,861.66 was entered against Merlo and foreclosure of Merlo's real property was ordered. (R. pp. 0009-0034). On July 29, 2022, Merlo filed his Motion to Alter or Amend the Court's July 20, 2022 Order of Judgment and Foreclosure setting forth twenty-two (22) grounds to alter or amend the judgment. (R. pp. 0130-0135). On August 17, 2022, Judge Kirven denied Merlo's motion and this appeal ensued with Merlo's Notice of Appeal, filed August 22, 2022. (R. pp. 0038-0040).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

IBI and Merlo entered into an agreement (hereinafter the "Contract") wherein IBI agreed to be the general contractor for the construction of a residence for Merlo (hereinafter the "Project") located in Oconee County, South Carolina at 548 Marina Bay Dr., Seneca, South Carolina 29762. (R. pp. 0980-0989). Pursuant to the Contract, the parties agreed that:

- 1) IBI would build the Project "per plans and scope (attached to this contract)" for the lump sum amount of \$625,000.00;
- 2) "all change orders shall be Approved by both parties, or via email" and "all changes desired in the current floor plan will contained in writing in a change order signed by all parties or approved via email."
- 3) IBI would be "solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures, and the coordinating all portions of the work under the contract";

- 4) IBI would warrant that all materials and equipment incorporated in the work would be “new unless otherwise specified, and that all work will be of good quality, free from faults and defects, and in conformance with the contract documents”; and
- 5) IBI would be responsible “for the acts and omissions of his employees, subcontractors, and their agents and employees, and other persons performing any of the work under a contract with IBI.

Id. Pursuant to the Contract’s “Spec Sheet”, ten foot ceilings were to be constructed in the basement. *Id.*

For the Project, Merlo chose an architectural design from Don Gardner called “Sandy Creek” and Merlo provided those plans to IBI on August 18, 2017. (R. p. 0282, line 22 - p. 0283, line 17). By October 11, 2017, IBI, unbeknownst to Merlo, had taken the “Sandy Creek” plan and obtained a site plan for their own use on a separate lot, located on Lot 57, Riverstone. (R. p. 0284, line 1 - line 22). IBI did not purchase a license for those plans until January 6, 2020. (R. p. 0288, line 10 - line 18).

IBI commenced its work on the Project in or around February 2018. (R. p. 0176, line 19 - line 22). Throughout the course of construction, IBI would periodically provided Merlo with “balance sheets” which were a rolling accounting of the Project showing how much of the lump sum contract balance remained as adjusted for changes and payments. (R. pp. 0997-0998, 1000-1001, 1003-1004, 1006-1007, 1010-1011, 1013, 1015-1016, 1019, 1021, 1024-1027, 1030-1031, 1054). Beginning in December 2018 and then consistently throughout 2019, Merlo would send IBI his re-work lists of items to be remedied. (R. pp. 1359, 1369, 1374, 1380, 1385, 1390, 1396, 1402, 1406, 1408, 1409, 1413). In his December 2018 correspondence, Merlo advised IBI that the “Downstairs should be 10’ ceilings but only 9’8”. (R. p. 1368). The downstairs ceiling height

was never corrected to be in accord with the ten-foot (10') Contract specification. (R. p. 0459, line 23 - line 24).

On May 1, 2019, in conjunction with the April 30, 2019 balance sheet, IBI sent Merlo a "Guaranty" to sign regarding the obligations of the guarantor. (R. p. 1033). The April 30, 2019 balance sheet had additions to the Contract amount of \$71,672.00 and showed payments made in the amount of \$513,290.00, leaving a contract balance to complete the Project of \$183,382.00. (R. p. 1030). The April 30, 2019 balance sheet additionally showed three changes orders as "pending"; including the "Haul Dirt", "Staining Each Door \$45 each" and "Making Theater room larger" categories. *Id.* Merlo executed the "Guaranty" document on May 3, 2019 and acknowledged the change orders to date and that other items would be added to the balance sheet "such as Boulder Retaining walls, plumbing overages etc.". (R. p. 1035).

The August 9, 2019 balance sheet had further additions to the Contract amount of \$54,471.00 and an additional payment in the amount of \$62,410.00, leaving a contract balance to complete the Project of \$175,443.00. (R. p. 1024). The August 9, 2019 balance sheet maintained the "Haul Dirt", "Staining Each Door \$45 each" and "Making Theater room larger" categories as pending and added "Landscape Overage (Landscape Lights)" and "Deck extension Flooring and Rail" as pending categories. *Id.* On August 26, 2019, Lee Matthew West, III performed an inspection of the Project for GrandSouth Bank finding that the Project was 93% complete. (R. p. 0318, line 8 - line 12). On August 30, 2019, Merlo made a payment to IBI in the amount of \$31,250.00. (R. p. 1054).

On October 9, 2019, Merlo sent IBI his October re-work list which consisted of 21 exterior items and 33 interior items that needed to be addressed and remedied. (R. pp. 1412, 1413). On October 12, 2019, Merlo terminated the Contract with IBI stating: "[a]fter careful consideration, I

have decided to terminate my contract with IBI Builders effective immediately. The contract began 11/16/17, and 695 days have passed, 2 years to build a house of 4000 SF. It remains unfinished & the re-work required is extensive. I cannot in good conscience devote another year of my life to this partnership. While I believe your team is very qualified, the contractors hired & decisions made on my project have been less than stellar. Mismanagement would be an understatement.” (R. p. 1045).

Shortly after termination and in conjunction with IBI’s mechanics lien against the Project, IBI provided its final balance sheet. (R. p. 1054). The final balance sheet had further additions to the Contract amount of \$111,341.86 and showed the August 9, 2019 payment of \$31,250.00, leaving a contract balance to complete the Project of \$255,534.86. *Id.* The Contract amount, pursuant to the final balance sheet, after adding all charges was \$862,484.86 of which \$606,950.00 had been paid. *Id.*

Included in the additions to the Contract amount of \$111,341.86 were costs associated with the prior pending categories. *Id.* For the “Haul Dirt” category IBI added \$14,075.00 in charges, but at trial only had invoices to support charges of \$11,825.00. (R. p. 0248, line 7 - p. 0250, line 11). For the “Making Theater room larger” category, IBI added \$7,975 in charges but at trial did not have any invoices to support the charges. (R. p. 0254, line 12 - p. 0255, line 2). For the “Landscape Overage (Landscape Lights)” category, IBI added \$30,945.00 in charges but at trial only had invoices to support \$29,945.00, after the \$15,000.00 allowance. (R. p. 0261, line 23 - p. 0264, line 6). For the “Deck extension Flooring and Rail” category, IBI added \$6,415.00 in charges but at trial did not have any invoices to support the charges. (R. p. 0265, line 20 - p. 0266, line 4). The final balance sheet introduced a new change for “2 extra floor recepticals” wherein

IBI added \$550.00 in charges but at trial did not have any invoices to support the charges. (R. p. 0266, line 22 - p. 0267, line 9).

On November 12, 2019, Ronald Marchant, III inspected the Project for GrandSouth Bank and found the Project to be consistent with Mr. West's August 26, 2019 inspection, which found the Project to be 93% complete. (R. p. 0347, line 1 - line 15 and p. 1091). 93% of the final balance sheet Contract amount of \$862,484.86 equals \$802,110.92. *Id. and* (R. p. 1054). Accordingly, \$60,373.94 worth of work on the Project had not performed by IBI as of termination per the inspections from GrandSouth Bank. *Id.*

After termination, Merlo hired Joy Construction to remediate IBI's deficient work and complete the Project. (R. p. 0405, line 4 - line 20). After termination, Merlo learned that:

- 1) IBI had placed his driveway, landscaping and irrigation lines such that they encroached on his neighbor's property. (R. p. 0528, line 10 - p. 0529, line 7 and p. 1508);
- 2) IBI had placed a portion of his boulder retaining wall such that it encroached on his other neighbor's property. (R. p. 0644, line 4 - line 6); *and*
- 3) IBI had built a wood framed exterior wall where the plans called for a poured-in-place concrete exterior wall. (R. pp. 1378, 1379).

At trial, Merlo testified to the deficient items on the October 2019 re-work list and the other deficient items Joy Construction or Merlo found as the scope of work for the Project was performed. (R. pp. 1413-18; 1444-85; 1486-1507; p. 0526, line 4 - p. 0544, line 25; p. 0627, line 25 - p. 0629, line 3; p. 0635, line 22 - p. 0651, line 10; p. 0671, line 17 - p. 0681, line 24). At trial, Merlo presented evidence that the electrical panel IBI's subcontractor installed needed to be replaced because it was in excess of the 140-degree threshold for circuit breakers under United

Listing Standards 489, Section 7.1.4.1.6. (R. p. 0568, line 3 - p. 0570, line 1; p. 0672, line 23 - p. 0673, line 20).

Merlo paid Joy Construction \$137,000 before terminating them from the Project and paid \$35,712.10 directly to several vendors to remediate IBI's work and finish the Project; totaling \$172,712.10. (R. pp. 1419-20; 1421; 1422; 1423; 1424; 1425; 1426; 1427; 1428; 1429; 1430; 1431; 1432; 1433; 1434; 1435; 1436; 1437; 1438; 1439; 1440; 1441; 1442; 1443; p. 0554, line 24 - p. 0577, line 13; p. 0609, line 16 - p. 0621, line 19)

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY DENIED MERLO'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT

At trial, Merlo set forth three distinct grounds for directed verdict motions after the close of IBI's case in chief, during which there had been no expert testimony. As to Count II of IBI's Complaint for Breach of Contract, Merlo set forth that IBI must bear all liability for its non-performance citing Silver v. Aabstract Pools & Spas, Inc. See *Silver v. Aabstract Pools & Spas, Inc.*, 658 S.E.2d 539, 376 S.C. 585 (S.C. App. 2008) (“*Where a contract is not performed, the party who is guilty of the first breach is generally the one upon whom all liability for the nonperformance rests.*”)

In the matter at hand, IBI agreed to construct the Project “per plans and scope (attached to this contract)” and agreed to construct 10-foot ceilings in the basement. (R. pp. 0980-89). It is undisputed that IBI deviated from the plans and scope and constructed the basement ceiling to 9-foot, 8-inch and Merlo advised IBI of this deviation in December 2018. (R. pp. 1359-68; p. 0459, line 23 - line 24). Furthermore, no where in the record did IBI provide any change order which affected the floor plan to adjust the ceiling height from 10 feet down to 9 feet, 8 inches.

As IBI breached the agreement by deviating from the plans and scope in December 2018, all liability for the nonperformance after that rests on IBI. *See Silver*, 658 S.E.2d 539 (S.C. App. 2008). As all liability for the nonperformance rests on IBI, the Court's denial of Merlo's motion for directed verdict was erroneous.

For the second part of the motion for directed verdict, Merlo contended that there was no consideration to support the Guaranty because it was based on prior consideration. It is elementary that a promise founded upon a past consideration cannot be enforced, unless it be shown to be supported by a new legal consideration, growing out of and connected with the original contract. *Henderson & Dempsey v. Skinner*, 146 S.C. 281, 143 S.E. 875 (S.C. 1928). Under the Contract, Merlo was already personally liable for the Project and valid change orders so the full consideration to attempting to support the Guaranty was past consideration. As a promise founded upon a past consideration cannot be enforced, the Court's denial of Merlo's motion for directed verdict with regard to the validity of the Guaranty was erroneous.

For the third part motion for directed verdict, Merlo sought a directed verdict on his causes of action for negligent misrepresentation, fraud, Unfair Trade Practices Act violation and breach of fiduciary duty based on fabricated numbers for which IBI sought payment and deviating from the change order provision in the Contract. With regard to some of the alleged change orders, IBI did not have documentation to support the following charges:

- 1) \$14,075.00 added for the "Haul Dirt" category, but only had invoices to support charges of \$11,825.00. (R. p. 0248, line 7 - p. 0250, line 11).
- 2) \$7,975 added for the "Making Theater room larger" category, but did not have any invoices to support the charges. (R. p. 0254, line 12 - p. 0255, line 2).

- 3) \$30,945.00 added for the “Landscape Overage (Landscape Lights)” category, but at trial only had invoices to support \$29,945.00, after the \$15,000.00 allowance. . (R. p. 0261, line 23 - p. 0264, line 6).
- 4) \$6,415.00 added for the “Deck extension Flooring and Rail” category, but did not have any invoices to support the charges. (R. p. 0265, line 20 - p. 0266, line 4).
- 5) \$550.00 added for “2 extra floor recepticals”, but did not have any invoices to support the charges. (R. p. 0266, line 22 - p. 0267, line 9),. *Pgs. 120-1*.

It was further undisputed that none of these change orders were approved in accordance with the Contract. As IBI sought payment on fabricated numbers and deviated from the change order provision in the Contract, the Court’s denial of Merlo’s motion for directed verdict was erroneous.

II. THE COURT ERRONEOUSLY RULED ON QUESTIONS OF LAW

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW

A proceeding for the enforcement of a statutory lien, such as a mechanic’s lien, is legal in nature. *Willard v. Finch*, 123 S.C. 56, 116 S.E. 96 (1923); *Stoudenmire Heating & Air Conditioning Co. v. Craig Bldg. Partnership*, 308 S.C. 298, 301, 417 S.E.2d 634, 636 (Ct. App. 1992). In an action at law, “[a]n appellate court may determine questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court.” *Estate S. Tenney v. the South Carolina Dep’t of Health*, 393 S.C. 100, 712 S.E.2d 395 (S.C. 2011) *citing Verenes v. Alvanos*, 387 S.C. 11, 14, 690 S.E.2d 771, 772–73 (2010).

B. FIRST BREACH RULE

Merlo hereby incorporates the portion of Section I, above, regarding the first breach rule as if it was restated verbatim herein. As this Court can determine questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court, Merlo respectfully asks that this Court reverse the lower

Court and find that IBI's failure to construct the Project "per plans and scope (attached to this contract)" by not constructing 10-foot ceilings in the basement was a breach of the Contract which would require that IBI bear all liability for its non-performance.

C. BREACH OF CONTRACT

Pursuant to the Contract, IBI agreed to build the Project "per plans and scope (attached to this contract)" and agreed to be "solely responsible for all construction means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures, and the coordinating all portions of the work under the contract". In addition to failing to construct 10-foot ceilings in the basement as discussed above, it is undisputed that IBI: i) placed Merlo's driveway, landscaping and irrigation lines such that they encroached on his neighbor's property. (R. p. 0528, line 10 - p. 0529, line 7; r. 1508); ii) placed a portion of Merlo's boulder retaining wall such that it encroached on his other neighbor's property. (R. p. 0644, line 4 - line 6); and iii) built a wood framed exterior wall where the plans called for a poured-in-place concrete exterior wall. (R. pp. 1378, 1379).

Additionally, the Court erroneously failed to find to that IBI breached the Contract by violating the implied duty of good faith and fair dealing their fiduciary duty with the stealing Merlo's house plans and using them for their own gain. *See U.S. for Use and Benefit of Williams Elec. Co., Inc. v. Metric Constructors, Inc.*, 480 S.E.2d 447, 325 S.C. 129 (S.C. 1996) (*in South Carolina, there exists in every contract an implied obligation of good faith and fair dealing.*)

As this Court can determine questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court, Merlo respectfully asks that this Court reverse the lower Court and find that IBI's failure to construct the Project "per plans and scope", failure to take responsibility for the erroneous work performed on the Project and stealing Merlo's house plans and using them for their own gain were breaches of contract.

D. NEGLIGENCE

IBI had a duty to protect Merlo against the foreseeable risk of harm from its actions and to construct the residence in a good and workmanlike manner, to use due care to supervise construction of the residence, to ensure that all aspects of work performed on the project were acceptable and in accordance with the plans and specifications, and to accomplish the work undertaken in a manner appropriate to the residential construction industry. *See e.g. Kennedy v. Columbia Lumber and Mfg. Co., Inc.*, 384 S.E.2d 730, 299 S.C. 335 (S.C. 1988). In the matter at hand, IBI breached its duty to Merlo by i) failing to follow the plans and construct 10-foot ceilings in the basement. (R. pp. 1359-68; p. 0459, line 23 - line 24); ii) failing to follow the plans and build a wood framed exterior wall where the plans called for a poured-in-place concrete exterior wall. (R. pp. 1378, 1379); iii) placing Merlo's driveway, landscaping and irrigation lines such that they encroached on his neighbor's property. (R. p. 0528, line 10 - p. 0529, line 7; r. 1508); and iv) placing a portion of Merlo's boulder retaining wall such that it encroached on his other neighbor's property. (R. p. 0644, line 4 - line 6);

As this Court can determine questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court, Merlo respectfully asks that this Court reverse the findings of the lower Court that IBI's deviations from industry standards were not negligent.

E. NEGLIGENT MISREPRESENTATION

Merlo hereby incorporates the portion of Section I, above, regarding IBI's negligent misrepresentation as if it was restated verbatim herein. As this Court can determine questions of law with no particular deference to the trial court, Merlo respectfully asks that this Court reverse the lower Court and find that IBI's fabricated numbers and deviation from the change order provision in the Contract was a breach of IBI's duty to communicate truthful information.

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