**RECEIVED**

**Sep 21 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

Appeal from Oconee County  
Court of Common Pleas

Hon. Steven C. Kirven, Master-in-Equity  
2019CP3700687 and 2020CP3700188

Appellate Case No. 2022-001189

Montgomery Holdings, LLC d/b/a IBI Builders.....Respondent,

Versus

Christopher J. Merlo and GrandSouth Bank.....Defendants.

AND

Christopher J. Merlo.....Appellant,

Versus

Gregory K. Grissinger, Jr., and John Montgomery.....Respondents.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENTS**

---

JASON M. TAROKH  
S. CAROLINA BAR # 72837  
TAROKH LAW, PLLC  
PO BOX 10827  
TAMPA, FL 33679  
813-922-5510  
jason@tarokhlaw.com

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. THIS APPEAL IS MOOT AND SHOULD BE DISMISSED BECAUSE MERLO SATISFIED THE JUDGMENT DURING THE PENDENCY OF THIS APPEAL, BEFORE THE FORECLOSURE SALE AFTER THE TRIAL COURT RULED THAT IBI WAS NOT REQUIRED TO POST BOND FOR THE FORECLOSURE SALE TO PROCEED.**

Merlo satisfied the judgment during the pendency of this appeal before the foreclosure sale and after the trial court ruled that IBI was not required to post a bond for the foreclosure sale to proceed. (R. p. 0975; p. 0041-0043). Therefore, this appeal is now moot and should be dismissed.

“A case becomes moot when judgment, if rendered, will have no practical legal effect upon [the] existing controversy. This is true when some event occurs making it impossible for [the] reviewing Court to grant effectual relief.” *Mathis v. S.C. State Highway Dep’t*, 260 S.C. 344, 346 (1973). “In civil cases, there are three exceptions to the mootness doctrine: (1) an appellate court can retain jurisdiction if the issue is capable of repetition yet evading review, (2) an appellate court can decide cases of urgency to establish a rule for future conduct in matters of important public interest, and (3) if the decision by the trial court can affect future events or have collateral consequences to the parties, the appellate court can take jurisdiction.” *Collins Music Co., Inc., v. IGT*, 365 S.C. 544, 549 (Ct. App. 2005) (internal citations omitted). In *Collins*, this Court found the third exception applicable to decide an issue regarding post-judgment interest even though the party had not yet incurred post-judgment interest because it would be “nonsensical” to require a party to incur post-judgment interest prior to being permitted to raise the issue on appeal. *Id.*

However, in the instant case, there has been no issue raised relative to post-judgment interest in the Appellant's Initial Brief. Furthermore, none of the above enumerated exceptions to mootness applies. Accordingly, this appeal should be dismissed on the ground of mootness. "Appellate court[s] will not pass on moot and academic questions or make an adjudication where there remains no actual controversy." *Linda Mc Co., Inc., v. Shore*, 390 S.C. 543, 558 (2010). Because Merlo satisfied the judgment, the issues raised by Merlo in this appeal are moot and nothing more than academic.

**II. THIS APPEAL SHOULD BE DISMISSED BASED UPON THE DOCTRINES OF WAIVER AND ESTOPPEL BECAUSE MERLO ELECTED TO SATISFY THE JUDGMENT INSTEAD OF POSTING BOND TO STAY THE FORECLOSURE SALE PURSUANT TO SOUTH CAROLINA CODE ANN. § 18-9-170.**

Merlo satisfied the judgment during the pendency of this appeal before the foreclosure sale and after the trial court ruled that IBI was not required to post bond for the foreclosure sale to proceed. Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed based upon the doctrines of waiver and estoppel because Merlo elected to satisfy the judgment during the pendency of the appeal instead of posting bond to stay the foreclosure sale pursuant to South Carolina Code Ann. § 18-9-170, which states in relevant part:

If the judgment appealed from direct the sale or delivery of possession of real property, the execution of the judgment shall not be stayed unless a written undertaking be executed on the part of the appellant, with two sureties, to the effect that during the possession of such property by the appellant he will not commit or suffer to be committed any waste thereon and that if the judgment be affirmed he will pay the value of the use and occupation of the property from the time of the execution of the undertaking until the delivery of possession thereof pursuant to the judgment, not exceeding a sum to be fixed by a judge of the court by which judgment was rendered and which shall be specified in the undertaking.

"Waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right."

*Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Property Regime*, 307 S.C. 339, 344 (1992). Merlo

waived his right to maintain this appeal when he elected to satisfy the judgment instead executing a written undertaking with sureties to stop the foreclosure sale during the pendency of this appeal South Carolina Code Ann. § 18-9-170. (R. p. 0975; p. 0041-0043). “Equitable estoppel is the inhibition to assert such right by reason of mischief following one's own fault and may arise even though there was no intention on the part of the party estopped to relinquish or change any existing right. Prejudice to the other party is an essential element of equitable estoppel.” *Id.* Merlo should be estopped from maintaining this appeal because he elected to satisfy the judgment instead executing a written undertaking with sureties to stop the foreclosure sale during the pendency of this appeal pursuant to South Carolina Code Ann. § 18-9-170. (R. p. 0975; p. 0041-0043).

Merlo elected to satisfy the judgment rather than file a written undertaking with two sureties as required by South Carolina Code Ann. § 18-9-170, to stop the foreclosure sale after the trial court denied Merlo’s motion to require IBI to file a written undertaking with two sureties. (R. pp. 0041-0043). In so doing, Merlo has waived his right to continue to maintain this appeal and should be estopped from maintaining this appeal because he elected not to comply with South Carolina Code Ann. § 18-9-170. IBI is obviously prejudiced by Merlo’s continued maintenance of this appeal after Merlo satisfied the judgment. “[T]here can be only one satisfaction for an injury or wrong.” *Stoneledge v. IMK Development Co.*, 435, S.C. 109, 133 (2021). Merlo’s act of satisfying the judgment caused IBI to file a satisfaction of judgment. (R. p. 0975). During the pendency of this appeal, and before scheduled foreclosure sale, Merlo could have filed a written undertaking with two sureties as required by the subject statute to stay the foreclosure sale, but instead he elected to make IBI whole by satisfying the judgment. Therefore, this appeal should be dismissed based upon the doctrines of waiver and estoppel.

### III. AN ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUND FOR AFFIRMANCE EXISTS IN THE RECORD.

Pursuant to Rule 208(b)(2), SCACR, and *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406 (2000), as an additional sustaining ground appearing in the record for this Court's to affirm the trial court, Merlo sent Rampy an e-mail dated March 21, 2021, entitled "Builder Referrals" during the course of the litigation. (R. p. 0708, p. 7-p. 0713, line 19; p. 1335). The e-mail states in part, "Fast forward last week and IBI's attorney is accusing you of convincing me to fire them. He insisted the house was in perfect condition & no work needed done. He insinuated IBI was a model builder & together we were trying to defraud them. I don't agree with him & I don't think you do either. Without your factual testimony, my attorney told me we will surely lose the case...I would like to confirm those details because the least I can do is channel clients in your direction." (R. p. 1335). At trial, although Merlo testified that he did not feel like he was trying to bribe Rampy to testify with that e-mail, Merlo testified that "I was trying to solicit his testimony", and in response to the question, "In exchange for business, correct?", Merlo testified, "Well, perhaps, yeah, I mean if I told him I had builder referrals perhaps." (R. p. 0708, p. 7-p. 0713, line 19; p. 1335). In reference to the e-mail, Merlo admitted "that was just me trying to convince him to testify on my behalf". (R. p. 0709, lines 21-22). Such conduct is an egregious affront to the justice system and should not be tolerated.

Additionally, pursuant to Rule 220(c), SCACR, this Court may affirm the trial court for any reason appearing in the record. "An affirmance promotes judicial economy and finality in private and public affairs, which are important public policies." *I'On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 421-2 (2000). An order on appeal "comes to the appellate court with a presumption of correctness". *McCall v. IKON*, 380 S.C. 649, 659 (Ct. App. 2008).

#### **IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED MERLO'S MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT.**

The trial court properly denied Merlo's motion for directed verdict at the trial. (R. p. 0497, line 22-p. 0506, line 15; p. 0959, line 21-p. 0960, line 19). "In ruling on a motion for directed verdict, a court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the non-moving party." *Swinton Creek Nursey v. Edisto Farm Credit*, 334 S.C. 469, 476 (1999) (internal citations omitted). "When the evidence yields only one inference, a directed verdict in favor of the moving party is proper." *Id.* "The trial court can only be reversed by this Court when there is not evidence to support the ruling below." *Id.* at 477 (internal citation omitted).

In the instant case, there is more than sufficient evidence to support the trial court's denial of Merlo's motion for directed verdict relative to the basement ceiling height issue. For example and without limitation, Merlo's brief states that Merlo advised IBI of the 9'8" basement ceiling in December 2018. However, Merlo entered into the Guaranty in April 2019 and then later terminated IBI on October 12, 2019, with no mention of the basement ceiling height issue (R. p. 1039; pp. 1045-1047). Furthermore, on three separate occasions starting in January 2019 and to and including August 2019, Merlo told the bank with whom he had the construction loan to pay IBI, how "the end-product should be exceptional", "I am satisfied with the project", and "The house now exceeds are [sic] initial expectations though." (R. pp. 1112-1113; p. 1118).

Pursuant to the Contract, IBI agreed to construct the home "per plans and scope". (R. p. 0980-0989). The Contract's "Spec Sheet", which was "based off plans", called for ten-foot ceilings to be constructed in the basement. (R. p. 0980-0989). Grissinger testified at trial that the plans show the first floor ceiling height 11'3 and when a 16" I-joint and half inch drywall is added, it brings the basement ceiling height to 9'8", which was built pursuant to the plans. (R. p. 0425, line 1-p. 0427, line 7). Moreover, Grissinger testified that he and Merlo had "had a

conversation about [the basement ceiling height] and it was never brought up again because he understood why it was like it was, you know, it was built to plan.” (R. p. 0426, lines 20-23). Grissinger testified that Merlo, “asked why and I explained to him that [the basement ceiling height] was like the plan and this is how you get those measurements, and then it was never brought up again.” (R. p. 0460, lines 2-5). When Grissinger brought the basement ceiling height to Merlo’s attention “that we did it per plan, that subject was dropped.” (R. p. 0460, lines 16-19). Grissinger testified that Merlo “fully understood the ceiling heights and he was fine with it because we built it per plan.” (R. p. 0465, lines 15-17).

Additionally, IBI’s expert, Laplante, testified that there was a conflict between the Contract and plans: “If I built per the drawings precisely which is what the contract says to do, you can’t get 10 feet. And if I do the 10 feet, then I can’t do it per the drawings so that should’ve been resolved.” (R. p. 0887, lines 16-20). Laplante further testified, “you cannot build a house with beams, et cetera to achieve a 10 foot ceiling height per those plans, period.” (R. p. 0888, lines 20-22). Thus, it was impossible for IBI to construct 10’ basement ceilings and conform with the requirements of Merlo’s plans. Laplante also testified that, “It’s not a universally accepted term what a ceiling height is. There’s variations in ceiling heights for beams, soffits or whatever”. (R. p. 0906, lines 11-14).

Furthermore, there was no evidence to demonstrate how Merlo was damaged because of the basement ceiling height. Clearly, there was no breach of the contract relative to the basement ceiling height because it was impossible for IBI to construct 10’ basement ceilings pursuant to Merlo’s own plans and IBI built the basement ceilings pursuant to those plans. Assuming *arguendo* that constructing the basement ceilings to a height less than 10’ was a breach (it was not a breach), then the doctrines of equitable estoppel, estoppel by silence and waiver bar

Merlo's claims relative to the 10' basement ceiling issue for the reasons stated above. "Estoppel by silence arises where a person owing another a duty to speak refrains from doing so and thereby leads the other to believe in the existence of an erroneous state of facts. Silence, when it is intended, or when it has the effect of misleading a party, may operate as equitable estoppel." *Southern Development Land and Golf Company, Ltd., v. South Carolina Public Service Authority*, 426 S.E.2d 748, 751 (Ct. App. 1993) (internal citation omitted). "Waiver is a voluntary and intentional abandonment or relinquishment of a known right." *Janasik v. Fairway Oaks Villas Horizontal Property Regime*, 307 S.C. 339, 344 (1992).

In the instant case, there is more than sufficient evidence to support the trial court's denial of Merlo's motion for directed verdict relative to the Guaranty. The Contract was supplemented and modified by that certain instrument dated May 3, 2019, which was referred to as the "Guaranty". (R. p. 1039). Pursuant to the Guaranty, Merlo agreed that the balance sheet as of April 30, 2019, consisted of a total balance owed to IBI in the amount of \$183,382, agreed to pay IBI for all past and pending change orders that were reflected on the April 30, 2019 balance sheet, in addition to agreeing, among other things set forth therein, that all future change orders and allowance overages would be added to the balance sheet prior to "move in completion of home and or Certificate of Occupancy request". (R. p. 0198, line 10-p. 202, line 21; p. 1039). Pursuant to the Guaranty, Merlo also specifically waived the defense of lack of consideration and other defenses. (R. p. 1039).

"[T]he slightest consideration is sufficient to support the most onerous obligation....". *First National Bank of South Carolina v. Wade*, 245 S.C. 426, 431 (1965). "Valuable consideration may consist of some right, interest, profit or benefit accruing to one party or some forbearance, detriment, loss or responsibility given, suffered or undertaken by the other." *McPeters v. Yeargin*

*Construction Company, Inc.*, 290 S.C. 327, 331 (Ct. App. 1986). In essence, the Guaranty was the vehicle for Merlo to delay payment of change orders to the end of project, instead at the time they were incurred. By virtue of the Guaranty, Merlo effectively promised to pay IBI for everything at completion and before moving in even though Contract stated that “[w]hen change orders are requested and agreed upon, payment may be required for the added cost at time of work.” (R. pp. 0980-0989). A promise is valid consideration. See, *Smalls v. Springs Industries, Inc.*, 292 S.C. 481, 484 (1987) (“Small’s action or forbearance in reliance on Spring’s promise was sufficient consideration to make the promise legally binding.”). In like manner, IBI’s forbearance of its right to require payment of change orders at the time they were incurred in reliance upon Merlo’s promise to pay for everything after completion and before moving in the home was sufficient consideration to make the Guaranty legally binding. The Contract gave IBI the right to require payment for change orders at the time they were incurred (“at time of work”). The Guaranty was essentially Merlo’s promise to pay for “additional items” (change orders and allowance overages) at the completion of the project in exchange for IBI’s agreement to forbear from enforcing its right to payment for change orders at the time they were incurred until the home was completed (“move in completion of home and or Certificate of Occupancy request”). “Undoubtedly, a forbearance to exercise legal rights is a sufficient consideration for a promise made on account of it in the general law of contracts.” *General Electrical Company v. Gate*, 273 S.C. 88, 91 (1979). The evidence demonstrated that the Guaranty arose from IBI’s concern over the significant unpaid balance owed by Merlo and Merlo’s request to add the very significant cost of the boulder wall to the balance sheet. (R. pp. 1028-1031; p. 0194, line 4-p. 0195, line 8). The evidence sufficiently establishes that Guaranty together with the Contract, constituted the entire agreement between the parties. “A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested

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